IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT PATRICK CRAIG,)		FILED
Appellant,)))	•	AUG 21 1983 \/
vs.)	CASE NO. 62,184	SID J. WRITE
STATE OF FLORIDA,))		CLERK SUPPLANTS SOURT
Appellee.		•••	Grafes County Clerks

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK
CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
1012 South Ridgewood Avenue
Daytona Beach, Florida
32014-6183
Phone: (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the following symbols will be used to designate the record on appeal:

- R = The initial record on appeal
- RR = The supplemental record on appeal filed on April 6, 1983, dealing with the reconstruction of the record.
- A = The supplemental record on appeal filed on November 4, 1982, consisting of an affidavit of the court reporter.
- B = The supplemental record on appeal filed on October 20, 1982, consisting of exhibits filed at the motion to suppress.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was arrested on July 23, 1981, for the offenses of the first degree murder of John Eubanks and the first degree murder of Walton Robert Farmer. (R 1778) The state's petition to recall the grand jury, with service to Attorney Steven Richey as the defendant's lawyer, was filed on July 29, 1981. (R 1788)

On August 4, 1981, the defendant was charged by indictment with two counts of first degree murder. (R 1789) On August 10, 1981, the defendant filed a written plea of not guilty to the charges. (R 1795) Pursuant to defendant's motion, venue was changed to Hillsborough County. (R 1836, 1903-1930, 1938)

Defense counsel filed a motion to suppress the defendant's statements and a motion to suppress physical evidence. (R 1827, 1896, 1942-1944, 19531960, 1967-1978) Following a hearing, the trial court denied the motions to suppress. (R 1996, 2917-2919) However, following jury selection, but prior to the trial testimony, the court reversed its ruling as to the confession, granting the defendant's motion to suppress the defendant's statements and ruling that said statements were involuntary and were not freely made. (R 595, 2005a) The court still denied the motion to suppress the physical evidence obtained following the confession, ruling that "the evidence that came as a result did not depend upon the statements, it was found elsewhere." (R 596)

Although no notice of intent by the state to present evidence of collateral crimes or bad acts was filed by the prosecution [as required by Section 90.404 (2)(b)1, Florida Statutes (1981)], the defendant filed a motion in limine to preclude the state from offering evidence concerning grand theft of cattle from the victim. (R 1984-1986) Defense counsel also objected to said evidence at trial, which objection was overruled. (R 702)

A trial by jury commenced on November 16, 1981. At trial, the defendant took the stand and testified. (R 1395-1447) Prior to his testimony, the state indicated that they would question the defendant concerning the cattle thefts, a crime with which the defendant was not charged. (R 1387-1392) Defense counsel stated that he would advise the defendant to exercise his Fifth Amendment rights to these questions. (R 1387-1392) Notwithstanding this discussion, the prosecutor questioned the defendant in the jury's presence about the cattle theft, and the defendant was forced to exercise his right to silence in front of the jury. (R 1458-1460, 1467-1469, 1476, 1480-1481, 1482, 1483)

During closing arguments of the prosecutor, defense counsel objected and moved for a mistrial. (R 1641-1642) The court cautioned the prosecutor, but the motion for mistrial was denied. (R 1642)

The jury found the defendant guilty of both counts of first degree murder, as charged. (R 2007, 2010) The court adjudicated the defendant guilty of the offenses. (R 2008-2009)

Following the presentation of additional evidence in the penalty phase of the trial, the jury recommended that the defendant be sentenced to life imprisonment as to Count I (with no vote tally indicated), and recommended by a vote of ten-to-two that the defendant be sentenced to death for Count II. (R 2015, 2016) A pre-sentence investigation was ordered. (R 2019)

Motions for new trial, for directed verdict, and for arrest of judgment were filed and denied. (R 2020-2021, 2022-2025, 2026-2029, 2928, 2934, 2940) The pre-sentence investigation was filed, with an attachment of twenty-five letters by the defendant's relatives and acquaintances (including a judge, a court clerk, a state senator, law enforcement personnel, county councilmen, and a pastor) all speaking on the defendant's behalf, and an attachment of

petitions signed by 133 persons of the community asking for life sentences for the defendant. (R 2030-2087)

At the sentencing hearing, defense counsel sought to present additional testimony by law enforcement personnel concerning the defendant's model behavior in jail both during and after the trial. (R 2941-2945) Following the state's objection, the court refused to allow the defendant to present such evidence. (R 2945-2948) Defense counsel also proffered to the court a purported plea offer from the state wherein the defendant could plead guilty to one count of first degree murder with a life sentence and one count of second degree murder, which offer was rejected by the defendant. (R 294902952) The state objected to the proffer, indicating that, although some plea negotiations were discussed, no formal written plea offer was ever made by the state. (R 2950)

The trial court, rejecting the jury recommendation of life imprisonment as to Count I, sentenced the defendant to two, consecutive death sentences. (R 2088-2110, 2111-2115) In the findings of fact, the trial judge indicated that he was overruling the jury's life recommendation as to Count I because the vote for life was seven-to-five [which vote does not appear anyplace on the record], which the court considered to be relatively weak. (R 2008, 2110) The trial judge noted that he also considered the strength of the death recommendation for Count II in imposing the death sentence as to that count. (R 2089, 2090)

In its findings of fact as to Count I, (the murder of John Eubanks — to which the jury recommended life imprisonment) the court found as aggravating circumstances: (1) the murder was committed for financial gain; (2) the murder was especially wicked, attrocious, or cruel; and (3) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. As a mitigating circumstance, the trial court found that

the defendant had no significant history of prior criminal activity. (R 2089-2090, 2092-2101)

As to Count II (the murder of Walton Robert Farmer), the trial court found as aggravating circumstances that: (1) at the time of the conviction of the defendant for the murder of Farmer, the defendant had previously been convicted of the murder of John Eubanks 1/; (2) the murder of Farmer was committed for financial gain; (3) the murder of Farmer was especially wicked, attrocious, or cruel; and (4) the murder of Farmer was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. The trial court rejected all mitigating circumstances, including that of no significant history or prior criminal activity because of the conviction for the murder of Eubanks. (R 2090-2092, 2101-2109)

As to both counts, the trial court further noted that the defendant failed to prove any other aspect of his character to be considered in mitigation. (R 2089-2090, 2091-2092, 2101, 2109) In so doing the trial court rejected the attachments to the pre-sentence investigation which P.S.I., according to the court, "reported the void of any such competent or believable information." (R 2102, 2109) The trial court also noted that it had not considered in aggravation any additional evidence other than that presented before the jury at trial. (R 2088)

Defense counsel objected to the findings of fact, specifically noting that the vote of the jury on the life recommendation as to Count I was not a matter of record and hence defense counsel was not able to determine the accuracy of the information nor to rebut it. (R 2128-2135)

^{1/} In its conclusion of the findings, the trial court does not list this aggravating circumstance as to Count II, but rather lists it as to Count I. (R 2109-2110)

Notice of appeal was filed on June 8, 1982. (R 2120) Upon review of the record on appeal filed with this Court, the defendant noted that a transcription of the prosecutor's argument to the jury during the penalty phase of the trial was missing. This Court granted leave to supplement the record with the transcript, whereupon the court reporter stated that, due to a malfunction of the recording equipment at trial, the transcript was not available. (A 5-6) Following defense counsel's motion for a new penalty phase, this Court ordered the parties to reconstruct the record, with one Justice dissenting. Following the filing of defense affidavits that a full accurate reconstruction was not possible and defendant's partial proposed reconstruction, the state submitted what it purported to be a verbatim reconstruction of the penalty phase argument. (RR 38-53, 60-74) The trial court denied defendant's motions for an evidentiary hearing on the reconstruction, for leave to hire an expert dealing with memory and the inaccuracy of a reconstruction of events, and to certify the inability to reconstruct the record. (RR 24, 77-131) The trial court, although conducting an in camera review of the prosecutor's notes utilized at trial and utilized to reconstruct the record, and although including said notes in the record, denied the defendant's motion for production of notes to the defendant for use at the lower court level. (RR 8-9, 24-25, 75-76, 150-161) The defendant also filed an objection to the state's purported statement of the proceedings. 80 - 83)

The trial court overruled the objection, rejected the contents of the defendant's partial reconstruction of the record along with the attached affidavits, and adopted the state's purported reconstruction as "a reasonable reconstruction of the argument made by [the prosecutor]." (RR 9-22, 144-149, 162-177)

The defendant, based upon the lower court reconstruction proceedings, renewed his motion for a new penalty phase. This motion was denined on July 7, 1983, with three Justices dissenting.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 21, 1981, John Eubanks went to a ranch that he owned which was run by the defendant, Robert Craig. (R 682-683, 685, 693) Robert Schmidt was also employed at the ranch as a laborer. (R 691-692) Eubanks had told his wife and his secretary about some problems that he was having at the ranch with the defendant. (R 683, 693) Eubanks planned to conduct a cattle count at the ranch since he believed that the defendant and Schmidt had stolen some of his cattle. (R 778, 922, 1484)

While Eubanks was engaged in the cattle count along with Schmidt and Craig, Walton Farmer arrived at the ranch to talk to Eubanks. (R 933, 1484) Eubanks had offered Farmer a job. (R 715) While Eubanks and Farmer were in a remote area of the ranch with Schmidt and the defendant, they were shot and killed, presumably in an attempt to cover up the cattle theft. (R 945-953, 1409-1418) Two versions of the crime subsequently came to light.

In his statement to police two days after the incident 2/ and again at trial, Robert Craig told what happened in the remote area of the ranch. Eubanks was engaged in the cattle count when he was joined by Farmer. (R 1404-1406, 1409-1410, 2709-2710) Schmidt told the defendant that since Eubanks knew about the missing cattle, they were in big trouble and would have to kill both Eubanks and Farmer. (R 1396-1397, 1410, 2710-2711) Craig told Schmidt that he would not be able to do that. (R 1410, 2710)

The defendant was with Farmer and, some distance away and out of sight of the defendant, Schmidt was with Eubanks. (R 1413, 2711) Craig heard Schmidt shoot twice. (R 1413) Farmer and the defendant started running and

 $^{^{2/}}$ This statement was suppressed by the trial court on the day of the trial. (R 2005 a)

Schmidt came into view, firing a couple of shots and yelling, "Shoot! Shoot!"

(R 1414-1416, 1488) The defendant fell to the ground and, with his eyes closed, fired in Farmer's direction three times. (R 1414, 1486-1489, 2713) Everything happened so fast that the defendant just automatically shot without really thinking about it. (R 1414, 2713, 2973-2974)

When Craig opened his eyes, he saw Farmer on the ground. (R 1417) Schmidt walked past Craig and, standing over Farmer, shot the victim in the head. (R 1416-1417) Craig asked Schmidt about Eubanks, and Schmidt replied that Eubanks was dead. (R 1418)

Schmidt indicated that they would have to dispose of the victims' vehicles. (R 1418, 2714) With the defendant following in the ranch truck, Schmidt first drove Farmer's jeep to Clermont and then drove Eubanks' automobile to Belleview. (R 1419-1420, 2714-2715) Schmidt told the defendant that they would that night take the bodies to Wall Sink, a large, deep sinkhole in neighboring Sumter County. (R 1420, 2716)

At Schmidt's direction, the two men loaded cement blocks, plywood, bales of straw, a rope and an old blanket onto the ranch pick-up truck. (R 1423-1426, 2716) Schmidt took Eubanks' and Farmer's hats and wallets and put them into a paper bag. (R 1426-1427, 1494) The two men loaded the bodies onto the truck, covered them with the plywood and straw, and drove to Wall Sink. (R 1428-1432) There, after cutting the lock on the fence and driving near the sinkhole, Schmidt directed the unloading of the bodies. (R 1433-1437, 2716) The concrete blocks were tied around the bodies and Schmidt pushed the bodies over the edge into the 100-foot deep sinkhole. (R 1437-1440, 2716-2717)

At trial, Robert Schmidt testified for the state, as part of a deal allowing him to plead guilty to two counts of second degree murder and dropping charges against his wife who hid the murder weapon. (R 999-1001, 1018-1024,

1048-1051) Schmidt's version of the incident was that the defendant had been the instigator. (R 935-937) Schmidt testified that the defendant told him that they would have to kill Eubanks and Farmer since Eubanks knew of the cattle theft. (R 935) Schmidt also testified that the defendant had one month earlier mentioned killing Eubanks so that Eubanks' widow would be totally dependent upon them to run the ranch. (R 914-915) There was no discussion as to any details. (R 941)

It was Schmidt's version that while at the remote area of the ranch with Eubanks, Schmidt heard the defendant (who was out of sight with Farmer) yell to him, "Hey, Bob!," and then heard the defendant shoot first. (R 945) Schmidt shot Eubanks twice in the back of the head. (R 946-948) Schmidt then claimed that the defendant ordered Schmidt to shoot Farmer in the head since Farmer was still alive, which he did. (R 950-952) Robert Schmidt then said that the defendant took a few bills from Eubanks' wallet and looked for Eubanks' coveted shotgun in the trunk of Eubank's car. (R 954, 959) Later that night, the two men disposed of the bodies at the sinkhole, Schmidt claiming that the defendant directed the actions. (R 961-962, 967-974)

On July 22, 1981, Schmidt and Craig washed the bed of the pick-up truck and changed the tires on the truck. (R 982-986, 1474, 1477, 1479) The police and several acquaintances of Farmer gathered at the ranch that morning to search for the missing Farmer. (R 1470-1472) Craig, "running from a nightmare" and not knowing what to do, told a deputy that Farmer had left at about 5:00 p.m. the previous day and that Eubanks had left a short time later. (R 1471-1472)

Police investigation into the victims' disappearance led to the arrest of Schmidt and the defendant for cattle theft. (R 2157-2159, 2185, 2368,

2375-2377, 2414-2415) After the police took five psychological stress evaluations of the defendant, Craig admitted to selling some of the Eubanks' cattle. (R 2161, 2183, 2191, 2378-2379) Several hours later, after repeated questioning, after hiding the defendant from a bondsman and an attorney who were on their way to bail the defendant out of jail on the theft charge, after appealing to the defendant's conscience by telling him the victims deserved a "Christian burial," after slamming a chair in front of the defendant and confronting the defendant, and without readvising the defendant of his Miranda rights, the sheriff obtained a statement from the defendant admitting his involvement in the deaths of Eubanks and Farmer. (R 2166-2167, 2212-2218, 2247, 2249, 2305-2306, 2311-2313, 2329, 2419- 2420, 2428, 2438, 2498, 2504-2506, 2534-2540, 2548) This statement, the trial court eventually ruled, was not freely and voluntarily given after a knowing and intelligent waiver of his rights. (R 595, 2005 a)

During this involuntary statement, the defendant agreed to lead the police to the sight where the bodies had been disposed. (R 2173, 2286-2289, 2389, 2393-2394) While en route to the scene, Sheriff Griffin received a radio call that he should telephone his office. (R 2242-2243, 2291-2292, 2323) The sheriff telephoned the station and was told that Attorney Steve Richey had been retained by the defendant's family to represent the defendant. (R 2291, 2323, 2555, 2560, 2563-2571, 2722-2730) Attorney Richey wished to speak to his client immediately, wanted the defendant returned to the jail, and wished all questioning of the defendant to cease. (R 2556-2560, 2722-2730) Sheriff Griffin, in a taped phone conversation, told his officers to tell Attorney Richey that they had been unable to contact the sheriff and that they had no idea where the defendant was. (R 2326, 2722-2730) Attorney Richey was then told by the officers to try to find the defendant at the jail. (R 2728) Upon returning to the police car, Sheriff Griffin did not relay to the defendant the fact of

Attorney Richey's retention by his family as his counsel; he did not relay the attorney's desire to talk to Craig, nor his demand that all questioning cease and that the defendant be returned to the jail. (R 2243, 2323)

The defendant led the police to Wall Sink, where the bodies were eventually recovered with the help of expert divers (police divers being unable to find the bodies). (R 851-854, 869-873, 884, 1052-1061, 2171-2175) Also discovered due to the defendant's help, were items of physical evidence recovered from the Wall Sink area. (R 853-854, 872-873, 1221-1240) Sheriff Griffin and Captain Brown admitted that, without the defendant's help, the bodies and evidence would never have been discovered nor would the crimes have been solved. (R 884, 2220-2221, 2323, 2441)

A motion to suppress the bodies and all the physical evidence was denied by the trial court. (R 596-597) Even though the confession was illegally obtained, the court ruled that the evidence "obtained as a result" would not be suppressed since its discovery was not dependent upon the confession. (R 596) Sheriff James Adams of Sumter County, who had been notified of the missing men, had testified at the suppression hearing contrary to Sheriff Griffin and Captain Brown, opining that he would have searched all of the sinkholes in Sumter County for the misssing men. (R 2840-2842) This was his belief, Adams claimed, notwithstanding the fact that police skin divers had been unsuccessful in locating the bodies at Wall Sink, that there are six or seven sinkholes within a twenty-mile radius, and that there were other bodies which he has not been able to locate in Sumter County. (R 2842-2843)

At trial, a standing objection was made by defense counsel and noted and overruled by the court concerning the admission of testimony regarding the bodies and evidence. (R 597, 1987-1988) The trial court did, however, suppress the fact that the defendant had led police to the scene. (R 597)

The medical examiner testified that Eubanks died from the two gunshot wounds to the head. (R 1273-1282) These wounds, ballistics tests showed, were inflicted by Robert Schmidt's gun. (R 1147-1149) Farmer had received six wounds: one, a grazing wound to the arm; a second to the left rear side; a third to the right arm; another to the right arm, which also entered the abdomen; a shot entering the chest and lung; and a final wound to the left rear skull. (R 1283-1296) The cause of death was the shot to the head; however the bullet wounds to the abdomen and chest were potentially serious. (R 1291-1297, 1305) Ballistics tests showed that the gunshot wound to the head was caused by Schmidt's gun. (R 1349-1351) A bullet recovered from Farmer's side could have been fired by the defendant's gun. (R 1352-1353)

At trial, the state, over defense counsel's objections, presented detailed evidence concerning the theft of cattle from the Eubank's ranch, a crime with which the defendant was not charged. The evidence, which involved testimony of twelve of the state's thirty-eight witnesses, included details as to the method of transporting the cattle, the cleanliness of a trailer used to transport the cattle, the amount of each cattle transaction, the cashing of checks for the cattle, and the use of the proceeds from the cattle theft and sale. (R 696-698, 703-705, 777-778, 781-785, 787-799, 803-827, 859-863, 894, 910-912, 918-919, 929-930, 981, 1008, 1011, 1077-1078, 1092-1102, 1210-1220, 1456-1460, 1480-1481, 1485) Also elicited over the defendant's objection was testimony concerning the defendant's purchase and use of cocaine and marijuana. (R 929-930)

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