IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

ROBERT PATRICK CRAIG,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

NOV 14 1983 SID J. WHITE CLERK SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 62.1

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

EVELYN D. GOLDEN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Fl 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

POINT THREE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION IN LIMINE AND MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AND ALLOWING EVIDENCE OF COL-LATERAL CRIMES.

Contrary to appellant's argument, the trial court did not deny appellant his constitutional right to a fair trial. Appellant points out that of the 808 pages of trial testimony, only ninety of those pages dealt with this issue. Appellant argues that the State never filed a notice of intent to offer this type of evidence under Section 90.404(2). Florida Statutes (1981). However, the appellee would point out that appellant did not object to this evidence on these bases in the trial court below. "Except in cases of fundamental error, an appellate court will not consider an issue unless it was presented to the lower court." State v. Jones, 377 So.2d 1163 (Fla. 1979); State v. Barber, 301 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1974). Furthermore, in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, excep-Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332,338 tion, or motion below. (Fla. 1982). Appellant did not object to this evidence based upon the State's failure to comply with Section 90.404(2), Florida Statutes (1981), therefore, this argument is waived. See Herzog v. State, Case No. 61,513 (Fla. Sup. Ct. September 22, 1983) [8 FLW 383].

The test for admissiblity of collateral offenses is relevancy, not necessity. <u>Hall v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 1321 (Fla.

-18-

1981); Ruffin v. State, 397 So.2d 277,278 (Fla. 1981). The State initially has the burden, if evidence of a collateral crime is to be admitted, of offering proof of a connection between appellant and the collateral offense. See State v. Norris, 168 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1964). Sub judice, the State presented evidence that appellant and Robert Schmidt sold in excess of eighty head of cattle between January, 1981 and July, 1981, for a sum in excess of \$18,000 (R 787-823). The evidence clearly shows that appellant made all arrangements for the sale of the cattle, and that the cattle thefts were part of a prolonged crime spree. Accordingly, the evidence of the cattle thefts was admissible because it established the entire context out of which the criminal conduct arose. Hall, supra; Ruffin, supra. In a case of this kind, it was inevitable that certain facts tending to show the defendant's overall involvement in criminal activity (cattle theft) would come before the jury. Such evidence is admissible to illuminate the entire context out of which the defendant's criminal conduct arose. Smith v. State, 365 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1978) cert. denied, 444 U.S. 885, 100 S.Ct. 177, 62 L.Ed.2d 115 (1979). In this case, the defendant's continued theft of Mr. Eubanks' cattle was so pervasive and so integral to the commission of the crime charged, that it could not be completely kept from the jury. Mr. Craig's central motive for killing Mr. Eubanks was to prevent detection of his theft of the cattle. In the instant case, it is impossible to give a complete or intelligent account of the

-19-

crime charged without referring to the other crime. <u>Wilson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 134 Fla. 199, 183 So. 748,751 (1938); <u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 597 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

It is well settled that the Williams rule is not a rule of exclusion, but rather a rule of admissibility. In Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959), the Supreme Court made it quite clear that evidence of other crimes is admissible if such evidence is relevant to prove any fact in issue other than the bad character of the accused or his propensity to commit criminal acts. It is clearly established that it was necessary to introduce the evidence of the cattle theft to explain appellant's motive for killing his employer, Mr. Eubanks. Appellee maintains that counsel for appellant below did not adequately object to the introduction of these collateral offenses. He attempted to object by entering a standing objection, which did not argue the grounds raised by appellant before this Court. As appellant points out in his brief, an objection as to relevancy was overruled and a motion for mistrial based upon not necessarily just the evidence of the collateral crime, but what happened with the proceeds of the sale of the cattle, was entered by counsel for the appellant and was denied (R 929-930). Appellant now argues that this evidence was inadmissible because of the State's failure to comply with Section 90.404(2), Florida Statutes This ground was never asserted in the trial court. (1981). Appellee would submit that the rule requiring a contemporaneous objection at trial under such circumstances is firmly established.

-20-

Jones v. State, 360 So.2d 1293 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); Crespo v. State, 379 So.2d 191 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). Appellant has not argued that the admission of the evidence in question constituted fundamental error, and appellee would point out that such is not the case. Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant further maintains that when the appellant took the stand to testify, the prosecutor repeatedly asked appellant questions concerning his involvement in cattle rustling. However, upon advice of counsel, appellant invoked his rights under the Fifth Amendment. Appellant now maintains that the prosectuor's questions and subsequent closing argument that appellant failed to reveal all of his wrongdoings to the jury constituted a comment on the appellant's exercise of his constitutional right to remain silent. Appellant further maintains this served to magnify the error in allowing collateral crimes to become a feature of the trial. The appellee would strongly disagree with the appellant's argument in that when a criminal trial defendant testifies, his credibility can be tested in the same manner as with other witnesses. See Lebowitz v. State, 313 So.2d 473 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975); and Bowles v. State, 381 So.2d 326 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); and Section 90.08 Fla. Stat. (1977). Obviously, evidence of other crimes invariably serves to detract from the defendant's character and tends to establish a propensity toward criminality. Nonetheless, our courts have permitted such evidence to be introduced if it meets the test of relevancy.

-21-

Had the evidence of the defendant's cattle rustling been wholly unrelated to the murder charges, such evidence would not have been admissible under the rule of relevancy. However, such is not the case.

Appellant further maintains that although it was not requested, that a limiting instruction on the purpose of the introduction of this type of evidence should have been given. <u>Pickles v. State</u>, 291 So.2d 100 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974). Appellant maintains that as a result of this omission, the jury was never informed as to the permissible scope of consideration for such evidence. The appellee would point out that there is no error in failing to give the limiting instruction on the purpose of the introduction of this type of evidence because it was not requested. See <u>Milton v. State</u>, Case No. 82-1722 (Fla. 3d DCA October 4, 1983) [8 FLW 2466].

The evidence of the cattle thefts committed by the appellant and Robert Schmidt was but a chain of chronological events which began in January, 1981, with the first theft and sale of the cattle, and ended with the termination of the lives of John Eubanks and Bobby Farmer on July 21, 1981. The testimony regarding the cattle thefts was admitted without contemporaneous objection, and on this record, the admissibility of the testimony is not a proper issue for this Court's consideration, inasmuch as it is not preserved for appellate review. <u>Herzog v.</u> <u>State</u>, <u>supra</u>.

-22-

POINT FOUR

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL MADE DURING THE PRO-SECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT TO THE JURY IN THE GUILT PHASE.

At the outset, with all due respect to opposing counsel, appellee is unable to see a scintilla of mert in this point. The prosecutor, during closing argument in the guilt phase, went through the possible argument that counsel for Robert Schmidt could have made, had appellant been offered a plea bargain instead of his co-defendant, Schmidt. There was no objection made to this argument before the jury.

Additionally, appellant sets forth five other allegedly improper comments, which also were not objected to (See Appellant's brief, p. 37). Appellant continues in allegations number eight, nine, ten, twelve and thirteen, to cite to alleged acts of misconduct on behalf of the prosecution. Appellant never objected to what he perceived as acts of misconduct. Accordingly, appellee submits that these matters are not preserved for appellate review. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); <u>State v. Cumbie</u>, 380 so.2d 1031 (Fla. 1980).

Appellant did object to two instances of alleged misconduct. In allegation number seven, defense counsel objected to what he perceived as a misstatement of the law of principals, and not to any implication that the prosecutor was making about defense counsel (R 1620). With reference to allegation number eleven, counsel for appellant did object and move for a mistrial

-23-

on the basis of the prosecutor's reference to his client's testimony as lying (R 1642). The motion for mistrial made at that time attempted to cover "other matters" that were argued in closing argument; however, such an objection is insufficient to preserve any objections to "other matters" excluding the comment on Mr. Craig's veracity.

With respect to any misstatement of the law regarding principals, the appellee submits that the trial court cured any impropriety by stating:

> [THE COURT]: I think it will suffice to say, the Court will instruct you as to the law as soon as the attorneys have finished their argument. If the attorneys misstate the law, you will be able to understand from the court's instruction what law to apply to the evidence as you find it. (R 1620-1621)

With respect to the prosecutor's comment on the truth or credibility of Mr. Craig's testimony, the trial court correctly denied defense counsel's motion for mistrial, inasmuch as the prosecutor's remarks were fair comment on the evidence and the credibility of the witness.

In <u>Magill v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 1188,1189 (Fla. 1980), this Court refused to find reversible error in an allegation relating to an alleged misstatement concerning the function of the jury made by the State at voir dire, noting that subsequent instructions by the court had cured any misstatement. Appellee would suggest that the matter regarding any misstatement on the law of principals as alleged by appellant, would be resolved accordingly.

-24-

With respect to appellant's objection to the prosecutor's comments referring to appellant as a liar, the appellee would maintain that the trial court's ruling that the comment on the credibility of the witnesses was fair comment, and that defense counsel could cover it on rebuttal, was not error. A mistrial should be declared for prejudicial error which will vitiate the trial's result. Perry v. State, 146 Fla. 187, 200 So. 525 (1941). If the alleged error does no substantial harm and causes no material prejudice, a mistrial should not be declared. Id. Improper remarks can be cured by ordering the jury to ignore them unless they are so objectionable that such an instruction would be unavailing. The comments that were objected to by counsel for appellant were not so objectionable that an instruction would be unavailing. The trial court's comments that he would instruct the jury on the law and that the attorney's argument was not the law, was sufficient to cure any prejudice.

Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 326 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1975); <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 133 So.2d 729 (Fla. 1961), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 369 U.S. 880, 82 S.Ct. 1155, 8 L.Ed.2d 283 (1962), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 372 U.S. 904, 83 S.Ct. 742, 9 L.Ed.2d 730 (1963). Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments, <u>Spencer</u>. The control of comments is within the trial court's discretion, and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of this discretion is shown. <u>Thomas</u>; <u>Paramore v. State</u>, 229 So.2d 855 (Fla. 1969), modified, 408 U.S. 935, 92 S.Ct. 2857, 33 L.Ed.2d

-25-

751 (1972). See generally, <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1,8 (Fla. 1982).

Appellee would take exception to appellant's argument that the prosecutor commented on defense counsel or defense tactics. With regards to the allegation that the prosecutor implied that defense counsel, by his objection, somehow did not want the jury to know about the law on principles, appellee would submit that is a misstatement of defense counsel's objection (R 1620). Defense counsel objected on the basis that the prosecutor's comments were a misstatement of the law. There is nothing in the record to indicate that the prosecutor's remarks were a comment on the defense counsel's tactics. The other allegation regarding defense counsel's ability to "twist" or bully and confuse the State's witness, Robert Schmidt, was unobjected to at trial. Even if appellant's characterization of the prosecutor's remarks were correct, and appellee would not so concede, they hardly rise to the level of those in Jackson v. State, 421 So.2d 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

Appellee submits that the absence of objections to the alleged prejudicial comments by the prosecutor precludes appellate review. <u>Clark</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Cumbie</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>Steinhorst</u>, <u>supra</u>. The appellant has failed to demonstrate reversible error as to this point.

-26-

POINT FIVE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO THE MAXIMUM AND MINIMUM PUNISHMENTS FOR THE LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSES.

The record does not substantiate appellant's argument with regards to this point. There is no objection to the instruction on lesser-included penalties by Mr. Fox, counsel for appellant below (R 1521-1522). The record indicates that the following occurred:

MR. FOX: I don't know that I requested anything other than the maximum and minimum of first degree.

MR. BROWN: I think if you give maximum and minimum of one, you've got to give it for all of them.

THE COURT: Yes, it would be awfully inconsistent. (R 1521)

There might be intimidation on the part of the Court as to what they should find if I simply give it as to one and not as to the other.

MR. FOX: I hate to cite the old case, but apparently failure to give it on the lesser-included is not reversible error, so I take the contrary of that.

THE COURT: Giving it, it is.

MR. FOX: No, I'm not going that far, I'm not requesting anything further than minimum and maximum as to the offenses charged. (R 1522)

Appellee submits that the above colloquy does not

indicate that Mr. Fox objected to the trial court's instruction on maximum/minimum penalties for the lesser-included offenses, but simply that he was not requesting it (R 1522).

Appellant contends that if the defendant is not entitled to a jury instruction on the penalties for lesserincluded offenses, then neither is the State. The appellee is well aware that the trial judge is not obligated under the rule to inform the jury of punishment for each of the lesserincluded offenses other than the offense charged, however, there is no prohibition against the court informing the jury of the penalties for the lesser-included offenses. Settle v. State, 288 So.2d 511 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974); Mitchell v. State, 304 So.2d 466 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974); and James v. State, 393 So.2d 1138 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); McGough v. State, 407 So.2d 622 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). Although there is no requirement in the law that a trial judge instruct the jury as to the penalty for a lesser-included offense, there is no prohibition against such an instruction. Id. In Tascano v. State, 393 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1980), the Supreme Court held that it is mandatory that an instruction be given on the maximum and minimum sentences which may be imposed (including probation) for the offense for which the accused has been on trial. The appellee would maintain that there is no proscription in Tascano against the trial judge giving the maximum and minimum penalties for lesser-included offenses.

The appellee maintains that the appellant's argument is without merit and not preserved for appellate review. <u>Castor v.</u> State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

-28-

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